
 
 

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

3.00 pm TUESDAY, 2ND FEBRUARY, 2021 
REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this meeting and a separate invitation will 

be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 

above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 

member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 
725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 

found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Wales Audit Office: Review of Whistleblowing and 
Corporate Safeguarding  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

5 - 10 

4. Adult Advocacy Strategy   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

11 - 42 

5. Children’s Services Strategy   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

43 - 52 

6. Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

53 - 64 

7. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  W R Smith (Chair) 
                     S Jago (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors: G Richards, T Rogers, D Sammon and 

I Thomas 
 
Co-optees: I Cathrew 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Wales Audit Office: Review of Whistleblowing and 
Corporate Safeguarding 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To update Audit committee on the progress made in implementing the 
recommendations of the Wales Audit Office report in respect of Whistleblowing and 
Safeguarding in Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 The progress made against the Corporate Safeguarding Action Plan be debated and 

noted.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2015, the Wales Audit Office published its Review of Corporate Safeguarding 

Arrangements in Welsh Councils.  In January 2015 and September 2015, Cabinet 
received reports detailing the recommendations of this review and the plans for 
addressing these recommendations within Merthyr Tydfil.  The Local Authority 
needed to develop its Corporate Safeguarding Arrangements. 

 
3.2 The Safeguarding arrangements in Merthyr Tydfil had been reviewed as a result of 

the findings from the Rotherham Enquiry in 2014, which was timely and we were 
able to give feedback to the Audit office during the Audit in 2015. 

 

Date Written 8th November 2020 

Report Author Jon Eyre/Fran Donnelly/          
Lisa Curtis-Jones  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 2nd February 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.3 The Corporate Safeguarding Reference group was recommended in the Corporate 
Safeguarding Policy which was implemented and ratified in September 2015. 

 
3.4 This group has met quarterly since that time and has been well attended by all 

sections of the Council.  
 

3.5 Audit committee developed an action plan as a response to the Welsh Audit Office 
Corporate Safeguarding arrangements report and all actions were completed. 

 
3.6 In August 2019, a further Audit was completed of Whistleblowing and Safeguarding 

Arrangements. 
 

4.0 CORPORATE SAFEGUARDING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
4.1 As a result of the above the Corporate Safeguarding Policy has been fully 

implemented and the Corporate Safeguarding arrangements are monitored by the 
reference group which has been implemented as a result of the above. 

  
4.2 A range of work has been completed as follows:  

 Support provided to VAMT to develop and support their safeguarding information 
for clubs, groups, and volunteers regarding safeguarding policies and 
responsibilities.  

 Information session provided to “Community Chest” to ensure that those groups 
that they fund who provide services to children or adults have appropriate 
safeguarding policies and procedures. 

 Providing advice and assistance for those services that are funded through local 
authority grants such as the “Biffa Fund” in the development of their safeguarding 
policies and procedures. 

 Development of “Top Tips” guidance for bus drivers and escorts on 
commissioned transport. 

 Training sessions delivered to bus drivers and escorts jointly with the Police. 

 Development of an agreement between all local authorities regarding placements 
in temporary accommodation within the Merthyr Tydfil area and appropriate risk 
management. 

 
4.3 The action plan by audit has been reviewed and all actions have been completed 

(see 5.0 below).  The Corporate Safeguarding Reference group has and will 
continue to monitor the Council’s responsibilities and report on progress and will 
continue to provide annual reports to Scrutiny and Council on its safeguarding 
responsibilities.  

 
4.4 Audit committee will be aware that the Corporate Safeguarding work represents one 

element of a range of activities aimed at safeguarding children and adults at risk. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



5.0 SUMMARY OF THE ACTION THAT TOOK PLACE 
 

Topic Action that took place 
 

The Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Reference 
group 

This was recommended in the Corporate Safeguarding Policy which 
was implemented and ratified in September 2015.  This group has met 
quarterly and has been attended by all sections of the Council. 

Audit 
committee 
action plan 

This is in response to the Welsh Audit Office Corporate Safeguarding 
arrangements report and all actions are complete.  Corporate 
Safeguarding Policy has been fully implemented and the Corporate 
Safeguarding arrangements are monitored by the reference group 
which has been implemented as a result of the above.  See details of 
the action plan below. 

Voluntary 
Organisations 

Support provided to Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil to develop and 
support their safeguarding information for clubs, groups, and volunteers 
regarding safeguarding policies and responsibilities.  

Wider groups Information session provided to “Community Chest” to ensure that 
those groups that they fund who provide services to children or adults 
have appropriate safeguarding policies and procedures. 

Grant funded 
services 

Providing advice and assistance for those services that are funded 
through local authority grants such as the “Biffa Fund” in the 
development of their safeguarding policies and procedures. 

Transport Development of “Top Tips” guidance for bus drivers and escorts on 
commissioned transport and training sessions delivered to bus drivers 
and escorts jointly with the Police. 
Also working closely with licencing looking at training of taxi drivers and 
taxi escorts as a result of previous safeguarding concerns raised within 
the Rotherham enquiry. 

Temporary 
Placements 

Development of an agreement between all local authorities regarding 
placements in temporary accommodation within the Merthyr Tydfil area 
and appropriate risk management. 

Whistleblowing 
arrangements 

A letter sent to all staff reminding them of their responsibility towards 
the Merthyr whistleblowing processes. 

 

Wales Audit Office: Review of Corporate Safeguarding Arrangements in Welsh 
Councils 2015 

 
Number Recommendation Start End Completed 

1 Improve corporate leadership and comply 
with Welsh Government policy on 
safeguarding through:  

 the appointment of a senior lead officer 
who is accountable for safeguarding and 
protecting children and young people 
with corporate responsibilities for 
planning improvements; 

 the appointment of a lead member for 
safeguarding; and 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

Page 7



 regularly disseminating and updating 
information on these appointments to all 
staff and stakeholders. 

2 Ensure there is a corporate-wide policy on 
safeguarding covering all council services to 
provide a clear strategic direction and clear 
lines of accountability across the council. 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

3 Strengthen safe recruitment of staff and 
volunteers by:  

 ensuring that Disclosure and Barring 
Service (DBS) checks and compliance 
with safe recruitment policies cover all 
services that come into contact with 
children; 

 creating an integrated corporate 
compliance system to record and monitor 
compliance levels on DBS checks; and  

 requiring safe recruitment practices 
amongst partners in the third sector and 
for volunteers who provide services 
commissioned and/or used by the 
Council which are underpinned by a 
contract or service level agreement. 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

4 Ensure all relevant staff, members and 
partners understand their safeguarding 
responsibilities by:  

 ensuring safeguarding training is 
mandated and coverage extended to all 
relevant Council service areas, and is 
included as standard on induction 
programmes  

 creating a corporate-wide system to 
identify, track and monitor compliance on 
attending safeguarding training in all 
Council departments, elected members, 
schools, governors and volunteers; and 

 requiring relevant staff in partner 
organisations who are commissioned to 
work for the Council in delivering 
services to children and young people to 
undertake safeguarding training. 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

5 Improve accountability for corporate 
safeguarding by regularly reporting 
safeguarding issues and assurances to 
Scrutiny Committee(s) against a balanced 
and Council-wide set of performance 
information covering: 

 benchmarking and comparisons with 
others; 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

Page 8



 conclusions of internal and external; 
audit/inspection reviews; 

 service-based performance data; 

 key personnel data such as safeguarding 
training and DBS recruitment checks; 
and 

 the performance of contractors and 
commissioned services on compliance 
with council safeguarding responsibilities 

6 Establish a rolling programme of internal 
audit reviews to undertake systems testing 
and compliance reviews on the Council's 
safeguarding practices. 

July 
2015 

July 
2015 

Yes 

7 Ensure the risks associated with 
safeguarding are considered at both a 
corporate and service level in developing 
and agreeing risk management plans across 
the Council. 

July 
2015 

Dec 
2015 

Yes 

 
 

6.0 WHISTLEBLOWING AND SAFEGUARDING IN MERTHYR TYDFIL 
 
6.1 In August 2019, the Wales Audit Office, following the receipt of a complaint carried 

out an audit of the whistleblowing and safeguarding arrangements in Merthyr Tydfil.  
They were looking at safeguarding arrangements in general and how this was 
understood corporately and reviewing a specific professional concern case. 

 
6.2 Information from the previous audit was shared with them and the improvements that 

had been made in respect of the Corporate Safeguarding Arrangements.  They were 
able to see evidence of improvements and the success of the Corporate 
Safeguarding Reference Group, which has had input from all areas within the 
Council.  

 
6.3 Most of the review focussed on the whistleblowing process and the professional 

concern matter.  Since the case they were considering had been dealt with, our 
professional concern processes had been updated in accordance with the new 
procedures.  Clear records are taken and decision making clearly recorded with all 
agencies being party to these discussions. 

 
6.4 The following Proposals for improvement were made in the report. 
 

Recommendations: Response: 

The Council should ensure that there are 
accurate and timely records of all meetings 
relating to safeguarding enquiries, ensuring 
that these minutes include the reasons for 
any decisions in accordance with current 
Welsh Government Guidance. 

Records of all meetings are kept.  These 
include reasons for decisions made.  
Potential transferrable risks to the workplace 
are discussed and clearly recorded to inform 
decision making. 
 

The Council should ensure that its staff are All staff emails are periodically sent to staff 

Page 9



familiar with its whistleblowing policy and 
procedures and that any concerns raised by 
staff should be recorded and a written 
response should be sent to the 
whistleblower in accordance with the 
Council’s policy. 

to remind them of the whistleblowing policy 
and procedures to follow. 
The whistleblowing policy has been placed 
on the intranet for staff to address 
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/staff-
hub/human-resources-and-
payroll/whistleblowing/ 
Information posters have been displayed 
around the Council offices. 
Full records kept and a clear timeframe set 
out at the start of the investigation. 

The Council should re-affirm with relevant 
staff the circumstances in which a school’s 
governing body should commission an 
independent investigation in relation to a 
safeguarding allegation against a member of 
the school’s staff. 

Refresher training took place with the 
Human Resources Team in October 2019. 

The Council should ensure that: 

 it retains sufficient centrally-funded HR 
capacity to fulfil its statutory duties in 
relation to schools; and 

 in consultation with schools, reviews the 
Service Level Agreement governing the 
sale of HR services so that it reflects the 
needs of schools as customers. 

The Service Level Agreement evaluation for 
2019-20 resulted in an overall judgement of 
Good. 
The judgement made by each school on a 
service has been calculated by averaging 
the judgements made across all 5 questions 
relating to the service.  The overall 
judgement on each service has then been 
calculated by averaging the judgements 
made by each school. 
The HR department is consulting with the 
Headteachers to ensure the agreement 
reflects the needs of the school as 
customers. 

 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.  
 
 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES   
                            CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No  

 

Page 10

http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/staff-hub/human-resources-and-payroll/whistleblowing/
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/staff-hub/human-resources-and-payroll/whistleblowing/
http://intranet.mtcbc.local/intranet/staff-hub/human-resources-and-payroll/whistleblowing/


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Adult Advocacy Strategy 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report sets out the Adult Services Advocacy and how it relates to Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council’s strategic Wellbeing Priorities. 
 
1.2 The strategy sets out the strategic direction for advocacy services for Adult Social 

Care in the coming three years. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1  That the Scrutiny Committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 
report.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Advocacy is taking action to help people say what they want, secure their rights, 

represent their interests, and obtain services they need. Advocates and advocacy 
providers work in partnership with the people they support and take their side. 
Advocacy promotes social inclusion, equality, and social justice. It aims to make 
things happen in the most direct and empowering ways possible. It recognises that 
self-advocacy – whereby people, perhaps with encouragement and support, speak 
out and act on their own behalf – is the ultimate aim. 

Date Written 18th January 2021 

Report Author Lowri Morgan 

Service Area Adult Social Care 

Committee Date 3rd February 2021 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 
3.2 The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places certain duties on local 

authorities to ensure that people are able to make informed choices and participate 
in decisions that affect them in relation to their care and support needs. The key 
provisions of the Act relating to information and advocacy are:  

 Section 17 which requires local authorities to ensure that information, advice 
and assistance relating to care and support services is available.  

 Section 181 which states that local authorities may be required to arrange for 
advocacy services to be made available to people who are in need of care 
and support.  

 
In addition, the Welsh Government has issued the Part 10 Code of Practice 
(Advocacy), which requires local authorities to:  

 ensure that advocacy services are available to enable people to participate in 
decision-making by local authorities; and  

 in certain circumstances, to provide an independent professional advocate.  
 

3.3 During the inspection of Adult Services by Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW), advocacy 
was identified as an area for development for adult services inspection in September 
2019.  Advocacy is also identified within the Local Authority Recovery, 
Transformation and Improvement plan. 

 
3.4 Within Adult Services we have worked to co-produce the Advocacy Strategy with 

service users and professionals including extensive collaboration and consultation 
with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Advocacy Forum. 

 
3.5 Whilst the coproduction work was on-going staff guidance was issued to support 

Care Managers in their approach to advocacy and the offer of advocacy to adults.  
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 Whilst advocacy services were available to individuals they were often only utilised 

at the point where an individual was unable to make a decision in respect of critical 
decisions in their life, such as moving into care or as part of the deprivation of liberty 
arrangements. 
 

4.2 There was a need to strengthen the initial assessment arrangements so that 
advocacy was considered at any initial assessment as part of the “What Matters” 
conversation. 
 

4.3 Merthyr Tydfil CBC did not have a clear strategy in respect of how advocacy services 
are provided in line with the requirements of the Social Services & Wellbeing Act. 
The absence of a clear Advocacy strategy was identified by CIW, during their 
inspection in 2019: 
 
‘The local authority needs to ensure sufficient formal advocacy to meet statutory 
duties and assure itself practitioners are confident in promoting the service.’ 
 

Page 12



4.4 Consultation with citizens identified a lack of understanding of what advocacy was 
and when would be the most appropriate time to use it.  
 

4.5  Although the local authority currently spot purchases advocacy services the Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg Advocacy forum identified that despite having its place spot 
purchasing advocacy services cannot always support sustainability amongst the 
advocacy sector and does not allow resilience to be built for periods when there is a 
spike in demand.  

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 In order to improve our understanding of the need for advocacy locally we have 

undertaken the following steps: 

 Developed an advocacy guidance document for staff. 

 Undertaken a review of the advocacy data collected within Welsh Community 
Care Information System (WCCIS).  

 Sought to improve our data collection by allocating mandatory fields within 
WCCIS around what advocacy has been offered. 

 Worked with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg advocacy forum to coproduce the 
advocacy strategy. 

 Appointed a Senior Social Worker within the Initial Support Service who has 
been tasked with working with Assessment & Review Officers to strengthen the 
inclusion of the consideration of advocacy support at the commencement of the 
assessment process. 

 
As a result of the changes made, we are optimistic that our data will better reflect the 
correct levels of need for advocacy within Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

5.2  A draft Advocacy Strategy (Appendix 1) has been developed outlining the 
direction of travel for advocacy services. Whilst it was hoped that there would 
have been greater co-production of the strategy with people who use the service 
this was not achievable due to the pandemic and to address this the strategy will 
be reviewed after a year. 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 The purpose of the strategy is to provide a clear direction for the development of 

advocacy services for Adults over the next three years. 
 
6.2 The strategy is based on the current position and legislative framework which can be 

subject to change and should this occur then the strategy will be refined to reflect 
these changes. 

 
6.3 We will continue to work on a regional basis to identify how more specialist services 

will be developed across the region in order to maximise both the use of available 
resources and enhance the range of services closer to the individual’s community. 

Page 13



 
6.4 The areas identified in the strategy are: 

 Work with stakeholders including those who have accessed advocacy in the past 
to identify what is important to them in relation to advocacy provision.   

 Review and improve data collection mechanisms to ensure we are appropriately 
mapping demand in Merthyr Tydfil including consideration of the increase in 
demand for advocacy for parents of children involved with social services. 

 Raise the profile of advocacy across our staff teams including exploring potential 
training opportunities and utilising the tools provided by the Golden Thread 
Advocacy Programme and Social Care Wales.  

 Review the current provision of advocacy services across Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Work to identify resources required to fund appropriate levels of advocacy in 
Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Work with advocacy providers to enhance commissioning opportunities based on 
the improved data collection. 

 Review the efficacy of any commissioned advocacy services. 

 Continue to raise the profile of advocacy including its benefits to professionals 
and citizens. 

 Review this strategy and further develop commissioned advocacy across the 
region if appropriate. 

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 We are committed to undertake the following: 

 Work regionally to expand the advocacy offer for our citizens reviewing and 
adopting best practice where appropriate. 

 Improve our data collection fields in WCCIS so that the offer of advocacy 
becomes a mandatory field with justification for advocacy not being offered.   

 Utilise enhanced data to ensure we are taking the correct approach to the 
commissioning of services including consideration of the increase in demand for 
advocacy for parents whose children are involved with social services.  

 Review provision of advocacy services and promote their use in Merthyr Tydfil as 
appropriate.  

 Develop and improve training on advocacy to ensure that the correct information 
on the benefits of engaging in advocacy are being shared with potential service 
users.   

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The advocacy strategy for Adult Social care links with the following strategic 

objectives: 

 Healthier Wales. 

 Focus on the Future Local Authority wellbeing objective of Living Well 

 The PSB objective of Lifestyles, Health & Vulnerability. 

 The political priorities of “We will look after all our citizens by providing quality 
education and social care enabling everyone to lead their lives to their full 
potential” and “We will encourage lifestyles and promote wellbeing.” 

 
 

Page 14



 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Adult Services Advocacy 
Strategy 2020 - 2023 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 26 
 

 

 

 

 

ADULT SERVICES 

ADVOCACY 

STRATEGY  

2020-2023  

Page 17



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  
 

 
 

Page 2 of 26 
 

Review 
 

Version Number: 3 

Service Area: Adult Services – People and Performance 

Publication Date: January 2021 

Revisions:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 3 of 26 
 

Index   
 

Item Page 

Number 

Vision 4 

Introduction 5 

Strategic and Legislative context 7 

Population Profile 11 

What others have told us  14 

Case Studies 17 

What have we done  21 

Where we need to be  22 

How do we get there  23 

Key Milestones  24 

Appendix 1: Our Shared Vision 25 

Appendix 2: Strategy on a Page  26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 19



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 4 of 26 
 

Vision 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council’s Shared vision is “To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position 

as the regional centre for the Heads of the Valleys and be a place to be proud of where; 

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions 

 People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life 

 People visit, enjoy and return 

 

‘Our Shared Vision’ can be found in Appendix 1. 

 

Vision for Living Well as identified in the Strategy on a Page (SOAP)  

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they feel safe and 

enjoy good physical and mental health. The outcomes are; 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and Adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and have 

transitioned well into adulthood. 

  

Page 20



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 5 of 26 
 

Introduction 

 

Social care services for people in Merthyr Tydfil have continued to reform to meet   the needs of our 

community, and to achieve the County Borough’s vision and strategic aims of promoting 

independence and supporting people to remain in their own homes for as long as possible. The 

needs of the population continue to change and social care services need to continue to adapt in 

order to deliver the vision for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough, the Government’s modernising agenda 

and the wishes of our customers within the context of finite resources. Our focus for the next ten 

years is to continue to provide services that maximise independence and self-determination.  

 

Following the introduction of the ‘Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act the Council has 

adopted 5 ways of working which are designed to ensure we are in a position to provide sustainable 

services now and in the future. These principles ensure we take a ‘Long Term’ view to plan for the 

future, a focus on ‘Prevention’, ensuring our services are ‘Integrated’ with local communities and 

other partner agencies, that we ‘Collaborate’ with and ‘Involve’ the people who use our services 

and our partners in their development. 

 

The Council intends to make effective use of the Well-being of Future Generations Act to safeguard 

the well-being of Merthyr Tydfil now and over the long term. The Council has identified four key 

wellbeing objectives – details of which are set out in our ‘Statement of Wellbeing’. In addition to this, 

we have also documented what we will do and how we will work to deliver our objectives (‘Focus on 

the Future: Wellbeing in our Community’).   

 

The use of “well-being standards” means that we take a wider account of the impact that our services 

are having on people’s lives, their place in their communities, family relationships, access to work 

and education and protecting people from harm.  Because of doing things differently we are 

recording different information and considering the impact of services on people, asking ourselves 

“what difference have we made to people’s lives?” 

 

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 was implemented in April 2016 and the 

changing practice, policy and service delivery required is progressing well and is being embraced 

Page 21



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 6 of 26 
 

locally and regionally. The Social Services and Wellbeing Act and the Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act are now embedded into practice. 

As part of the ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act; we need to do different things, work 

smarter, making better use of our assets which has never been so important.   

 

There has been higher demand in Adults Services over recent years, with an increase in packages 

of care to maintain adults within their own home which has meant pressures on the budget within 

Social Services. There has been the availability of grants from Welsh Government in respect of 

winter pressures and prevention work, which has assisted the Council.  

 

The Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 places a requirement on Local Authorities 

to ensure suitable and accessible advocacy arrangements are in place to enable individuals and 

carers to fully participate in decisions that affect them, giving them a voice and control in achieving 

their identified well-being outcomes.  

 

 

This Strategy alongside the MTCBC advocacy guidance for staff sets out the responsibility on 

MTCBC and its staff to provide advocacy support to individuals and carers where it is identified 

that they may experience barriers to engaging and participating in any part of the assessment, 

care and support planning or review and safeguarding process or where they need the assistance 

of an advocate to access information, advice or assistance. 

 

This strategy outlines our current position, where we want to be in the future and the key steps we 

need to take alongside our milestones in the development and awareness raising of advocacy 

across the County Borough.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 22



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 7 of 26 
 

Strategic and Legislative Context 

 

The Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 

 

The Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014 Advocacy Code of Practice (Pt.10) specifies 

the requirement for Local Authorities to:- 

 

a) ensure that access to advocacy services and support is available to enable individuals 

to engage and participate when local authorities are exercising statutory duties in 

relation to them and 

b) to arrange an independent professional advocate to facilitate the involvement of 

individuals in certain circumstances. 

 

Local authorities must consider the advocacy needs of an individual together with the range of 

circumstances where an individual may face additional risks or barriers that can heighten their 

needs for advocacy support. 

 

The Code sets out the requirements on Local Authorities to secure advocacy support. It reinforces 

and builds upon the duties under the Act to ensure an individual and/or carers views, wishes and 

feelings are taken into account and appropriate support is provided to ensure that they are 

involved as much as possible in their care and support.  

 

The code compliments other parts of the Act by setting the over-arching framework within which 

the needs of individuals and carers are identified at key stages of their journey toward the well-

being outcomes that matter to them. 

 

Chapter 8 of the code outlines the different types of advocacy. These can be briefly defined as: 

 

 Self-advocacy - when individuals represent and speak up for themselves. 

 

Page 23



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 8 of 26 
 

 Informal advocacy - when family, friends or neighbours supporting an individual in having 

their wishes and feelings heard, which may include speaking on their behalf. 

 

 Collective advocacy - involves groups of individuals with common experiences, being 

empowered to have a voice and influence change and promote social justice. 

 

 Peer advocacy - one person acting as an advocate for another who shares a common 

experience or background. 

 

 Citizen advocacy - involves a one-to-one long-term partnership between a trained or 

supported volunteer citizen advocate and an individual. 

 

 Independent volunteer advocacy - involves an independent and unpaid advocate who 

works on a short term, or issue led basis, with one or more individuals. 

 

 Formal advocacy - may refer to the advocacy role of staff in health, social care and other 

settings where social care staff are required as part of their role to consider the wishes 

and feelings of service users and to help ensure that they are addressed properly. 

 

 Independent professional advocacy - involves a one-to-one partnership between an 

independent professional advocate who is trained and paid to undertake their professional 

role as an advocate. This might be for a single issue or multiple issues. Independent 

professional advocates must ensure individuals’ views are accurately conveyed 

irrespective of the view of the advocate or others as to what is in the best interests of the 

individuals.  

 

Figure 1 overleaf demonstrates the spectrum of advocacy as outlined within the act, reflecting the 

range of advocacy needs. Wherever possible we would always promote and support self-

advocacy in an enabling way as do all other forms of advocacy support.  

Page 24



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 9 of 26 
 

 

 

 

The Act also places a responsibility on the Local Authority to commission appropriate advocacy 

services and to publicise those services. Local Authorities and Health Boards must also assess as 

part of their population needs assessment, the range of advocacy services in their area and 

secure and promote their availability as part of their portfolio of preventative services 

 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

We will strive to implement the five ways of working throughout our approach to accommodation 

services. This will include: 

 

Long Term – developing services over the longer term to better meet our needs both locally and 

regionally  

Prevention – support the use of advocacy where appropriate to enable individuals to make informed 

choices about their care and support 

Integration – work across regions, public bodies and third sector organisations to provide integrated 

advocacy services  

Involvement – continue to involve service users in a co-productive approach to advocacy including 

utilising the Cwm Taf Morgannwg advocacy forum as a partner in developing this strategy  

Page 25



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 10 of 26 
 

Collaboration – Strengthen links with departments to deliver a range of advocacy options  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 26



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 11 of 26 
 

Population Profile 

Population  

As at mid 2018, Merthyr Tydfil had a population of 60,183. This information has been taken from 

StatsWales. A breakdown is shown below; 

 

Age Population (as at 

2018) 

0 - 15 years 11,553 

16 – 64 years 37,406 

65+ years 11,224 

TOTAL 60,183 

 

Age 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

0 - 15 years 11,018 11,092 11,243 11,383 11,553 

16 – 64 years 37,463 37,414 37,534 37,462 37,406 

65+ years 10,575 10,741 10,714 11,108 11,224 

TOTAL 59,056 59,247 59,714 59,953 60,183 

 

 

The tables overleaf detail the population projections under the following categories: 

 

 People who are unable to manage at least one self-care task 

 People who are predicted to have a moderate, severe or profound hearing or visual 

impairment  

 People who are predicted to have received treatment for stroke 

 People who are predicted to have a dementia  

 People who are predicted to have a mental health problem 

 People who are predicted to have a learning disability  

 

The data projections are taken from the Daffodil data management system 

Page 27



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 12 of 26 
 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:35 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 65 and over unable to manage at least one self care activity on their own, by age and 
gender, projected to 2035  

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Total population aged 65 and over unable to manage at 
least one self care activity on their own 

3,664 3,891 4,367 4,930 5,488 

 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:38 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 18 and over predicted to have a moderate or severe, or profound, hearing 
impairment, by age and gender, projected to  2035  

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Total population aged 18 and over predicted to have a 
moderate or severe hearing impairment 

6,098 6,433 7,163 7,789 8,478 

Total population aged 18 and over predicted to have a 
profound hearing impairment 

133 142 160 183 212 

 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:40 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have received treatment for a stroke, by age and gender, 
projected to 2035  

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Total population aged 16 and over who have received 
treatment for a stroke 

1,247 1,308 1,430 1,534 1,633 

 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:42 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 30-64 predicted to have early onset dementia, and people aged 65 and over 
predicted to have dementia, by age and gender, projected to 2035  

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:41 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 18 and over predicted to have a moderate or severe visual impairment by age, and 
people aged 75 and over predicted to have registerable eye conditions,  projected to  2035  

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

People aged 18-64 predicted to have a severe visual 
impairment 

24 24 23 23 23 

People aged 65-74 predicted to have a moderate or 
severe visual impairment 

353 358 368 407 426 

People aged 75 and over predicted to have a moderate 
or severe visual impairment 

621 674 799 890 997 

People aged 75 and over predicted to have registerable 
eye conditions 

318 345 409 456 510 

Page 28



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 13 of 26 
 

Total population aged 30-64 with early onset 
dementia 

16 17 17 16 15 

Total population aged 65 and over with 
dementia 

739 801 926 1,073 1,231 

 

Table produced on 14/08/20 09:42 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have a mental health problem, by gender, projected to 2035  
2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have a common 
mental disorder 

7,965 8,029 8,180 8,343 8,492 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have a borderline 
personality disorder 

223 225 229 234 238 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have an 
antisocial personality disorder 

168 170 174 178 181 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have psychotic 
disorder 

198 200 203 207 211 

People aged 16 and over predicted to have two or more 
psychiatric disorders 

3,543 3,573 3,642 3,716 3,784 

 

Data for: Merthyr Tydfil 
   

Table produced on 14/08/20 10:20 from www.daffodilcymru.org.uk version 7.1 

People aged 18 and over predicted to have a learning disability, by age, projected to  2035 
 

2017 2020 2025 2030 2035 

Total population aged 18 and over predicted to have a 
learning disability 

1,124 1,135 1,149 1,171 1,195 

 

What do these figures mean? 

 

Although the population data recorded in the Daffodil data management system does not stipulate 

number of people who require advocacy the figures recorded indicate the type of people who might 

require advocacy to effectively navigate the care and support system. There is set to be an increase 

year on year in all categories.  

 

Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS). 

 

Within Merthyr Tydfil we analysed our WCCIS records around advocacy to give a flavour of the 

current demand. Over the last three years 393 clients were deemed as requiring an advocate. Of 

these 101 clients received a referral. Some of the clients who required advocacy already had an 

advocate so did not require a referral to advocacy services. Overall it was recorded that 407 

clients already had an advocate. This was out of a total of 3450 distinct clients.  

Page 29



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 14 of 26 
 

What others have told us  
 

CIW  

In September 2019 CIW completed an inspection of Older Adults Services in Merthyr Tydfil. They 

identified that: 

‘The local authority needs to ensure sufficient formal advocacy to meet statutory duties and assure 

itself practitioners are confident in promoting the service.’ 

The work of this strategy forms part of our response to this recommendation and alongside the 

Staff Guidance document seeks to improve our promotion of advocacy services and work towards 

ensuring we are sufficiently meeting our requirements to provide formal advocacy. 

 

Making Voices Heard  

The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales completed a report on advocacy for older people 

called ‘Making Voices Heard’. In it she made some recommendations for local authorities 

including: 

 Local Authorities and Health Boards to ensure that the workforce is adequately trained so 

that they are aware of the legal rights to statutory independent advocacy and to increase 

awareness and understanding of the benefits that independent advocacy can bring  

 

 Action taken by the Welsh Government, Local Authorities and Health Boards to improve the 

approach to planning in relation to the provision of statutory and non-statutory independent 

advocacy. This must be supported by ensuring that robust data is available to demonstrate 

both the offer and uptake of statutory and non-statutory independent advocacy to support 

the planning process.  

 

In order to meet these recommendations we have outlined our priorities for improvement and key 

milestones as measurements of success which include improving our data collection on the need 

for advocacy and training and raising awareness of advocacy amongst our staff and out citizens.  

Page 30



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 15 of 26 
 

Cwm Taf Morgannwg Advocacy Forum  

The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Advocacy forum was clear that spot purchasing advocacy services, 

whilst having its place cannot always support sustainability amongst the advocacy sector. For 

some organisations a lack of consistent funding prohibits them from being able to recruit and train 

advocates to meet needs when there is a spike in demand. This often leads to long waiting lists for 

service which when people are in crisis is not ideal. 

The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Advocacy forum has also identified an emerging trend in advocacy 

requests to support parents involved in child protection cases. These cases are incredibly time 

costly and require specialist support and training for the advocate. They felt that consideration 

needed to be given to this emerging trend particularly in relation to its impact on waiting lists and 

availability of advocates to support in other areas.  

 

Alzheimer’s society  

Over the last five years the Alzheimer’s Society has supported 27 clients in Merthyr Tydfil through 

their advocacy scheme. In comparison in RCT this figure is 344.  

The Alzheimer’s Society told us they have supported a range of individuals over the years with 

issues including: 

 Hospital discharge 

 Moves between care homes 

 Financial abuse 

 Debt 

 Housing and Benefit issues 

 Employment 

For those they have supported, referrals have predominantly been received from family or 

dementia advisors.   

Merthyr and the Valleys Mind  

Between April 2019 and March 2020 Merthyr and the Valleys Mind supported 194 individuals with 

advocacy support. Of these, 32% were Merthyr Tydfil residents. 60% of the cohorts assisted were 

Page 31



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 16 of 26 
 

female with 40% male and all of those supported were aged over 18. The majority of referrals 

received were either self-referrals or referrals by family members (68%), with CMHT accounting 

for 16% and other services / departments 16%).   

 

Voice of the service user  

As part of the development of this strategy we sought to engage with as many people as possible 

to make sure we were able to reflect people’s views. In order to do this we used a number of 

methods to reach out to people. We: 

 Arranged consultation events with individuals 

 Sent targeted questionnaires to individuals in receipt of care and support 

 Sent targeted questionnaires to professionals and people who have referred into advocacy 

services to gather their views  

Primarily what this process identified to us was a lack of understanding of what advocacy was and 

when would be the time to use it. The majority of people felt that they would wish to have 

advocacy through family or carers with a number suggesting they had used peer advocacy before 

although they would not have defined this as advocacy. Individuals felt they would like to receive 

advocacy at home or in their support services.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 32



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 17 of 26 
 

Case Studies  

 

Case Study 1 – Merthyr and The Valleys Mind  

 

Ms D was referred from one of our partner organisations for advocacy support. Throughout the 

period of support, contact was maintained via telephone and email as agreed with Ms D. An initial 

assessment was carried out over the telephone. 

 

Issues Identified 

 

1. Ms D was living alone and she was finding the current period of lockdown difficult. She was 

feeling lonely and she felt that she had become increasingly isolated which was impacting 

negatively on her mental health. 

2. Ms D was experiencing ongoing issues with her neighbour. He would often disturb her at 

night, coming home late, playing loud music and shouting and singing. He was also leaving 

a mess in the shared garden area which Ms D strived to keep clean and tidy. Ms D was often 

kept awake at night and she felt that this situation was having a further negative impact on 

her mental health. 

3. Ms D was not happy with the care and treatment she had received from her GP practice 

during the period of lockdown. 

 

Actions 

 

1. Telephone contact was maintained with Ms D during this period to offer emotional support. A 

referral was made to the Mind telephone counselling service. 

2. Ms D had already spoken to her Housing Officer in regards to the on-going issues with her 

neighbour but she felt that they were slow to respond. The Housing Officer was contacted to 

clarify the extent of the issues with Ms D’s neighbour and the extent of distress that the current 

situation was having on her. Once an authorisation to share document was completed, the 

advocate maintained regular contact with the Housing Officer to monitor progress. Ms D was 

advised to report any further incidents with her neighbour to the Police. 

Page 33



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 18 of 26 
 

3. Ms D had already raised her concerns with her GP practice but she felt that they were not 

listening to her. Ms D gave permission to the practice for the advocate to speak with the 

Practice Manager to raise her concerns informally in the first instance. The Practice Manager 

was not very helpful at this stage, she was angry that Ms D had raised these issues during 

the unprecedented period of lockdown. Following further discussion with Ms D, she decided 

to raise the complaint formally in writing. On the instruction of Ms D, the advocate prepared 

a letter to the Practice Manager raising her concerns formally. The letter was agreed and 

amended before sending with a form of consent. 

 

Outcomes 

 

1. Ms D commenced the Mind telephone counselling which she found really helpful. She felt 

she was being listened to and there was somebody listening to her. 

2. She felt that her Housing Provider was now listening to her and they were now taking 

appropriate action to attempt to resolve the issues. Eventually Ms D’s neighbour moved out 

of the property and she was happy with the outcome. 

3. Ms D was not happy with the response letter from the Practice Manager at her surgery. She 

felt that they were only making excuses for their lack of care and concern. Following 

discussion in regards to Ms D’s options, she decided not to proceed any further with the 

complaint at this time. 

 

Comments 

 

“The support I have received has been brilliant. I have found the process very helpful and worthwhile. 

I would not hesitate to contact Mind should I need any further support in the future and I would 

thoroughly recommend the service to others.” 

 

 

Case Study 2 – Merthyr and The Valleys Mind  

 

 

Ms W was a self-referral to the Mind advocacy service. Initial contact was made by phone and a 

mutually convenient appointment was made to meet up for an initial assessment.  

Page 34



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 19 of 26 
 

 

Issues Identified 

 

At initial assessment, Ms W had the opportunity to discuss her current circumstances before 

agreeing on a plan to move forward. I met initially with Ms W and her Mother. 

 

Ms W explained that she was currently under the care of the Secondary Mental Health Service with 

her Social Worker acting as her Care Coordinator.  

 

1. Ms W was currently finding it extremely difficult to manage her emotions and she had needed 

to access support from the Crisis Team on two occasions in recent weeks. 

2. Ms W felt that her needs were not being adequately met by the Community Mental Health 

Team currently. 

3. Ms W felt that her current medication was having little effect and her GP was reluctant to 

change it due to the specialist area. 

 

Actions 

 

1. We discussed the options available to Ms W to move forward. Confidentiality and data 

protection forms were signed. 

2. Ms W decided that she would like to raise the issues informally, by letter, directly to her Social 

Worker and her Manager. 

3. It was agreed that the advocate would prepare a letter, outlining Ms W’s current concerns 

and difficulties.   

4. The letter was agreed by Ms W before sending. 

 

Outcome 

 

1. Following receipt of the letter, Ms W’s Social Worker contacted her directly. 

2. Ms W had the opportunity to meet with her Social Worker which she felt she was able to do 

with the support of her Mother. 

3. A review of Ms W’s current care plan was carried out with her Social Worker. 

4. It was agreed that Ms W would have monthly meeting with her Social Worker where they 

Page 35



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 20 of 26 
 

would work on strengthening Ms W’s coping strategies. 

5. A referral was made to Psychology for ongoing support. 

6. An appointment was made for Ms W to meet with her Social Worker and her Psychiatrist to 

review her medication. 

 

Ms W was happy with the outcome. 

 

“A really good service. The advocate acted really quickly to respond to my needs.”    

 

Case Study 3 – Alzheimer’s Society  

Advocate worked on behalf of a gentleman whose wife had referred to Alzheimer’s Society 

advocacy service. He was in the late stage of a dementia & had complex needs. His wife & family 

were struggling with debt he had post diagnosis. The advocate worked to cancel his debt with 

several creditors using understanding of various laws & fair practices. Sadly he died in 2017. 

 

Case Study 4 – Alzheimer’s society  

Advocate supported (& still has some connection with) a gentleman who had sadly been taken 

financial advantage of by his parents. Advocate sought the service of a legal deputy but there 

were numerous outstanding financial issues and many thousands of pounds are still being sought 

by the solicitor. A case was raised against his former employers as he was a solicitor historically 

who was dismissed for failing in his work. However no one in the workplace deemed it requisite to 

look for reason why he was failing, it was due to the start of his journey with dementia. He is still 

alive and thriving as well as he can in a care placement. 

 

 

  

Page 36



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 21 of 26 
 

What have we done? 
As a Local Authority we have previously commissioned advocacy on a spot purchase basis as and 

when required.  In order to improve our understanding of the need for advocacy locally we have 

undertaken the following steps: 

 

 Developed an advocacy guidance document for staff 

 

 Undertaken a review of the advocacy data collected within Welsh Community Care 

Information System (WCCIS)  

 

 Sought to improve our data collection by allocating mandatory fields within WCCIS around 

what advocacy has been offered 

 

 Worked with the Cwm Taf Morgannwg advocacy forum to coproduce this advocacy strategy 

 

As a result of the changes made we are optimistic that our data will better reflect the correct levels 

of need for advocacy within Merthyr Tydfil  

  

Page 37



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 22 of 26 
 

Where we need to be 
Whilst progress has been made we recognise that we need to continue adapt our approach to 

advocacy in line with the changing needs of the People of Merthyr Tydfil CBC.  

 

 We recognise that we need to improve our data collection to enable us to commission 

appropriately 

 

 We recognise that we need to promote advocacy appropriately and work on perceptions of 

its efficacy  

 

 We recognise that we need to work co-productively with our service users and our advocacy 

provider on our approach to advocacy within Merthyr Tydfil  

 

  

Page 38



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 23 of 26 
 

How do we get there? 
 

We are committed to undertake the following: 

 

 Work regionally to expand the advocacy  offer for our citizens reviewing and adopting best 

practice where appropriate 

 

 Improve our data collection fields in WCCIS so that the offer of advocacy becomes a 

mandatory field with justification for advocacy not being offered.   

 

 Utilise enhanced data to ensure we are taking the correct approach to the commissioning of 

services including consideration of the increase in demand for advocacy for parents whose 

children are involved with social services  

 

 Review provision of advocacy services and promote their use in Merthyr Tydfil as appropriate  

 

 Develop and improve training on advocacy to ensure that the correct information on the 

benefits of engaging in advocacy are being shared with potential service users   

 

  

Page 39



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 24 of 26 
 

Key Milestones 
 

We aim to meet the following key milestones through the implementation of this strategy: 

 

By the end of 2021 we aim to: 

 

 Work with stakeholders including those who have accessed advocacy in the past to identify 

what is important to them in relation to advocacy provision   

 Review and improve data collection mechanisms to ensure we are appropriately mapping 

demand in Merthyr Tydfil including consideration of the increase in demand for advocacy 

for parents of children involved with social services  

 Raise the profile of advocacy across our staff teams including exploring potential training 

opportunities and utilising the tools provided by the Golden Thread Advocacy Programme 

and Social Care Wales  

 

 

By the end of 2022 we aim to: 

 

 Review the current provision of advocacy services across Merthyr Tydfil 

 Work to identify resources required to fund appropriate levels of advocacy in Merthyr Tydfil 

 Work with advocacy providers to enhance commissioning opportunities based on the 

improved data collection  

 

By the end of 2023 we aim to: 

 

 Review the efficacy of any commissioned advocacy services 

 Continue to raise the profile of advocacy including its benefits to professionals and citizens 

 Review this strategy and further develop commissioned  advocacy across the region if 

appropriate  

 

 

  

Page 40



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  
 

 
 

Page 25 of 26 
 

Appendix 1 
 

 “Our Shared Vision” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council | Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful  

 

 
 

Page 26 of 26 
 

Appendix 2 
 

Strategy on a Page (SOAP) 2019/2020 Living Well 

 

Page 42



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Children’s Services Strategy 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides Scrutiny Committee with information regarding the 

developments and progress made within the Children’s Services Strategy.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee is asked to receive this report and to raise questions and 

challenge leading to improvement.   
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In March 2020, Children’s Services provided Scrutiny Committee with an overview 

and update of the service strategy for improving the well-being of children and young 
people. The strategy sets out our approach to delivering the Council’s duties to 
vulnerable young people.  

 
3.2 Children’s Services responds to Children’s Services’ role in contributing to outcomes 

under the Cwm Taf Statement of Strategic Intent for Children, Young People and 
Families, and the Public Services Board Cwm Taf Well-Being Objectives. 

 
Legislative Context 

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work 

to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals. We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle, which means that we act in a manner 

Date Written January 2021 

Report Author Taryn Stephens 

Service Area Children’s Services 

Committee Date 2nd February 2021 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



that seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
3.4 There are 5 elements that we need to consider and evidence in order to show that 

we have applied the sustainable development principle. The five things are: 
 

Long Term - The importance of balancing short-term needs with the needs to 
safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs. 
Preventative - How acting to prevent problems occurring or getting worse may help 
public bodies meet their objectives. 
Involvement - The importance of involving people with an interest in achieving the 
well-being goals and ensuring that those people reflect the diversity of the area 
which the body serves. 
Collaboration - Acting in collaboration with any other person (or different parts of 

the body itself) that could help the body to meet its well-being objectives. 
Integrated - with the needs to safeguard the ability to also meet long-term needs. 

 
3.5 The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 

improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need 
support and for transforming social services in Wales. The focus of this Act is on 
what matters to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources 
to do those things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person 
and the professional(s). Fundamental to The Act is enhancing the duty to collaborate 
in pursuit of early identification in order to prevent escalation of need. 

 
3.6 In order to improve wellbeing, local authorities, health boards and NHS trusts must 

work closely to ensure better integration of health and social care. Local authorities 
and health boards must work together to assess care and support needs (and carer 
support needs) of the population in their area. As a result, they will identify what 
services are needed. 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In March 2020 we shared with Scrutiny Committee an update on Children’s Service 

Strategy. The report was written in February prior to any Covid pandemic restrictions 
being imposed.  Included below is a summary an update against each area of 
business under the Children’s Services Strategy. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The service strategy is directly related to the corporate vision statement included in 

Focus on the Future that is included on our Strategy on a Page: 
 

Children and young people are safe and healthy; 
have the right help at the right time; 

are supported to live with their family or close to home; 
and have stable and successful lives. 

 
 
5.2 Within Children’s Services Strategy there are six key building blocks for success: 

Page 44



 
Earlier intervention (Right help at the right time) making sure those Children and 

their families receive the right help at the right time to prevent unnecessary 
escalation of need.  
 
Supporting Change (Right decision at the right time) - making sure intervention 

is evidence based to prevent further escalation of need and risk; that where we need 
to look after young people we do so at the right time, ensuring every safe opportunity 
for care within the family network is fully explored.  
 
Success, Stability and Transition (Right environment at the right time) - making 
sure that looked after young people and care leavers achieve stable and successful 
lives as a basis from where to transition into adulthood.  
 
Strategy for Improving Performance - making sure that we continually improve the 
services we deliver and our outcomes.  
 
Workforce Strategy - ensuring that we can successfully recruit qualified social 

workers; and that the service is staffed by colleagues who are well supported with 
the right values, qualifications and skills.  
 
Strategy for Sustainable Children’s Services - a 3-year plan setting out the 

services’ approach to delivering short and long term efficiencies.  
 
5.3 Each building block aims to prevent escalation of need, improve the wellbeing of 

vulnerable young people with care and support needs, and deliver budget 
efficiencies. Children’s services management team, relevant partners, service users 
and staff have been engaged in the development of the strategy and its related 
action plans. 

 
5.4 Children’s Services Staff have highlighted the following values and principles as 

important to their ways of working and how they identity as a staff group: 
 

 We listen to young people, their families and colleagues. 

 We step up and step-down service but avoid stepping away too soon. 

 We are positive and have a ‘can do’ attitude. 

 We embrace change. 

 Continuous improvement lies at the heart of our work – we welcome challenge. 

 We want to innovate and be leaders in practice. 

 We are passionate about making a difference for future generations of Merthyr 
Tydfil families. 

 
5.5 In October and December 2020 Children’s Services held a Workshop style events 

with elected members to share operational details of how our building blocks to 
success support families and young people to achieve their outcomes. 
 

5.6 Children’s Services has reviewed its strategy in order to give clear consideration to 
overcoming the barriers that the current COVID pandemic places upon the building 
blocks that sit under the service strategy. It is important to note that whilst some of 
the barriers the pandemic presents can be mitigated against, it has created different 

Page 45



levels of challenge within different areas of our strategy. The ways in which we work 
have often needed to change considerably at short notice. The importance of both 
promoting the safety of the public and staff in line with COVID restrictions, in 
conjunction with high levels of complex cases, against a background of commitment 
to developing the service to achieve greater outcomes for the young people we work 
with has been complex and challenging. It is important that the pace and 
achievements in developing the service development is considered within this 
context. 

 
5.7 Included below is a summary of progress against the Children’s Services’ developing 

strategy that forms our building blocks of success: 
 

Building Block for 
Success 

Progress 

Earlier 
intervention - 
Right Help at 
Right Time  
 

 Early Help Hub  
 Information, 

Advice and 
Assessment  

 Young Carers  
 Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub  
 Step-up Step-

down and MIA Co-
ordination  

 Young Carers  
 

 

Where we were: 
The Early Help Hub went live in September 2019. This was the hubs 
first and only full reporting quarter that was not impacted by the global 
pandemic. 
 
Initial success was greater than projected, with early data indicating 
public awareness was higher than anticipated and the community’s 
experience of accessing the hub was positive. 
 
Measure: 
Q3 19/20  

 No. of referrals 253 

 No. of Proportionate Assessments undertaken 184  

 % step up from TAF to children services 5% (Previous Q2 7%) 

 % of EHH referrals that stepped up to children’s services >1 
 
Where we are:  
The Early Help Hub has continued to provide a service throughout the 
pandemic, however the changes in ways of working for preventative 
services, due to COVID regulations has had implications for referrals 
and signposting. 
 
In March 2020, we shared that two new posts were being created 
within the Early Help Hub via partnership working with Health Services 
and the Police, unfortunately this did not come to fruition due to 
barriers created by the pandemic. These barriers have been 
overcome and both posts are projected to be aligned with the Early 
help Hub in 21/22. However, working relationships between the hub 
and these services has remained strong. 
 
Measure: 
Q3 20/21 

 No. of referrals 284 

 No of Proportionate Assessments 198 

 % step up from TAF to children services - 11% (6 out of 54 
closures)  

 % of EHH referrals that stepped up to children’s services - 1% (4 

Page 46



out of 284) 
 
It is important to note that the level of referrals have increased and 
now replicate what we saw in the previous year. The step-up rate to 
Children’s Services from TAF has increased; it is hypothesised that 
this is linked with current societal circumstances and reduced levels of 
face to face delivery within preventative and universal services.   
 
In line with this building block of success: 
- Families First has transitioned into Children’s Services Directorate. 
- Increased level of awareness sessions held for the Multi-Agency 

Safeguarding Hub and Early Help Hub. 
- Explored how the Early Help Hub can support and develop links 

with other relevant Local Authority departments and preventative 
services. 

- Worked closely with Business Systems to collate reliable 
information via the WCCIS System.  

- Developed a pilot that will commence in Q4 of TAF cases 
accessing Family Group Conference support for families, where 
appropriate. 

 
The work undertaken within this building block of success has 
supported the Local Authority’s ability to marry but not merge 
preventative and statutory responsibilities to best meet the needs of 
our community. The Early Help Hub and Multi-Agency Safeguarding 
Hub has continued to provide a service throughout a very difficult and 
uncertain period of time and staff have adapted quickly to new ways of 
working that has also brought some learning we want to take forward, 
led to creative solutions and links to new partners. 
 
Next Steps 
- Continue to support our community to access the right service at 

the right time. 
- Support the maximisation of preventative services being utilised. 
- Look for every opportunity to increase the capacity and reach of 

preventative services. 
- Evaluate and adjust based upon evidence of need and 

effectiveness. 
- ICF funded Health post to commence their presence in the Early 

Help Hub. 
- Early Action Together engagement to continue to explore a Police 

presence within the Early Help Hub to support information sharing 
and families accessing the right help at the right time. 

 

Supporting 
Change - Right 
Decision at Right 
Time  
(Previously 
Children Looked 
After Prevention 
Strategy)  

Where we were: 
- Appointments had been made to the Supporting Change (SC) 

Team. 
- Further work was required to support families accessing Family 

Group Conferences. 
- Following changes in regional arrangements for the Local 

Authority’s delivery under Part 9 of the Social Services and Well-
Being Act to provide an Integrated Family Support Service were 

Page 47



 Supporting 
Change Team  

 Multi-agency 
Risk Assessment 
Framework 
(MARAF)  
 

 

commencing via the Supporting Change Team. 
 
Where we are now: 
- The Supporting change team is now fully functional. 
- There is one current vacancy that is in the process of being 

recruited to. 
- The work of the Supporting Change Team supports Children’s 

Services making the right decision at the right time. Working with 
families to maximise opportunities to make lasting changes that 
prevent entry into the looked after system. Where a child needs to 
become looked after, this team will support the service in making 
that decision earlier in childhood that we know achieves better 
outcomes for children looked after.  

- Family Group Conference provision is now in place and 
consistently accessed by families. 

- In 18/19 the average monthly rate of young people becoming 
looked after was 7.7.  For 19/20 this reduced to 4.5. Over the first 
three quarters of 20/21 this figure currently sits at 4.5 children per 
month on average. This figure includes children who are made 
subject to PWP arrangements and kinship care. 

- At 31.03.20 there were 208 children looked after, during the first 
quarter of the year this rose to as high as 224 due to case 
complexity and the pandemic presenting barriers to the safe exit of 
care for our looked after children. As of 31.12.20 there were 200 
children looked after within the local authority. 

 
The three teams based within the Supporting Change Service have 
adapted to new ways of working due to the global pandemic. Out of 
hours support has continued to be in place for families, along with 
crisis support when required. 
 
During Q1, 2 and 3 2020/2021 80 families have been referred to the 
Supporting Change Intervention and Assessment Team whose 
delivery includes the Local Authority’s duties under part 9. Despite the 
pandemic this is a considerable increase in intensive services being 
provided to families compared with 2018/2019 arrangements. 
 
Families who have accessed support under this building block of our 
overall strategy have shared comments such as: 
 
- The worker was someone I could open up to and not be judged. 
- They helped me to see things differently and made me feel at 

ease. 
- The worker helped me understand the impact of my choices, she 

really opened my eyes. 
- Things were broken down and made it easier to understand, it 

helped me to think about how I approach situations and take on-
board everyone's views.  This service user also felt that the 
Supporting Change Team should work with families earlier (before 
court) and would recommend the service to others as he found the 
support beneficial. 

 

Page 48



Next Steps: 
- There is a clear pathway over the coming months to expand our 

use of Family Group Conferencing. 
- Review pilot of enhanced pre-birth planning. 
- Continue to embed service user feedback into the development of 

the service. 
- Recovery planning for service delivery, including family time post-

covid. 
 

Strategy for 
Stability, Success 
and Transition  

 National Fostering 
Framework: Foster 
Carer recruitment 
and retention; 
Fostering Well-being  

 Regional Adoption 
Collaboration  

 Corporate 
Parenting  

 Education for 
Looked after young 
people  

 Pathway to Work  
 Care Leavers’ 

Strategy  
 Therapy (Multi-

agency Permanence 
Support Service 
MAPSS)  

 Placement 
Commissioning 
Strategy  
 

Where we were: 
- The Council Tax reduction for foster carers had been approved by 

the Local Authority. 
- The Care Leaver’s Strategy - Make Your Own Decision had been 

developed. 
- The Placement Commissioning Strategy Action Plan had been 

developed.  
- Achieved Council Support to the Pathway to Work for care 

experienced young people. 
- Regional agreement to the ICF funded Multi-Agency Placement 

Support Services (therapy for looked after young people is on 
track to commence in April 2020). 

 
Where we are: 
- The Council Tax reduction for foster carers has been 

implemented. 
- We continue to work closely with our carer leavers in line with The 

Care Leaver’s Strategy - Make Your Own Decision. 
- There have been delays in the regional ICF funded Multi-Agency 

Placement Support Services going to tender, however, it is on 
track for delivery to commence in April 2021. 

- We have worked closely with Adults Services and other partners to 
develop a Transition Policy that will be presented to Scrutiny in 
February 2021. 

- We continue to work closely with Housing and relevant partners to 
develop the models of housing support available to our care 
experienced young people. This includes our care experienced 
young people co-producing housing projects. 

 
Next Steps: 
- Continue to involve young people in our work via our contract with 

Voices From Care. 
- Continue the work of the regional fostering front door. 
- Embed the developed Transition Policy. 
- Continue to implement the Placement Commissioning Strategy 

action plan. 
- Continue implement the action plan for the Pathway to work and 

build further opportunities for our children looked after. 
 

Strategy for 
Improving 
Performance  

 Participation and 

Where we were: 
- Positive performance in relationship to timeliness of response to 

new safeguarding concerns and assessment. 
- Increase in the number of care leavers in work 24 months after 

Page 49



the Young Person's 
Voice  

 Partnership 
Working  

 Policies and 
Procedures  

 Performance 
Review  

 Quality Assurance 
Framework  

 Outcome Focused 
Work  

 Independent 
Reviewing Service  

 Self- Evaluation 
and annual council 
report  
 

leaving care.  
- Quality Assurance Framework in place. 
- Passion 4 Practice had commenced but was within its infancy. 
- Challenges were linked to recording of GP and Dentist for looked 

after young people, Care Leavers being in work at 12 months 
following leaving care and Care Leavers experiencing 
homelessness. (Changes in WG reporting means these are no 
longer measures for 20/21). 

 
Where we are now: 
- Continued positive performance in the timeliness of response to 

new safeguarding concerns and assessments. 
- Increased levels of care leavers in education or employment 12 

and 24 months after leaving care. 
- Quality Assurance framework has developed from managerial led 

and audit based to a model of embedded quality assurance that is 
everyone’s business.  

- Practice 4 Practice has flourished and led to pilot programmes for 
reducing levels of practitioner paperwork, technological 
developments to support family engagement and an embedded 
programme of outcomes-based practice development across 
Children’s Services. 

- There is a systemic therapist currently working for the service to 
support reflective sessions to support staff reflection and 
wellbeing. 

 
Next steps  
- Ensure that young people’s voices inform service improvements. 
- In line with the Quality Assurance action plan further embed the 

voice of families in service and practice development. 
- Continue the work of the Quality Assurance Framework and 

incorporate self-evaluation. 
- Continue to monitor and improve performance. 
- Roll out the Passion 4 Practice Programme to all Children’s 

Services practitioners. 
- Continue to embed changes in relevant policy and legislation into 

service ways of working. 
 

Workforce 
Strategy  

 Recruitment  
 Retention  

 
 

Where we were: 

- Against a backdrop of significant change in recruitment to social 
work posts, there had been a period of successful recruitments.  

- Council had supported the proposal that we employ 2 FTE social 
workers to address capacity issues in looked after cases, 
especially linked to cases of Placement with Parents. 

 
Where are we now: 
- We have continued to see stable recruitment into Social Work 

posts within the service and high application rates for non-social 
work posts. 

- There is an increase in retention rates and skills development of 
staff within the service. 

- The 2 FTE Social Work posts that had been agreed by council we 

Page 50



were unable to recruit into due to their peripatetic and fixed term 
contract nature. We presented a business case to council to covert 
these into three support worker posts, this was agreed and the 
posts have been filled. 

 
Next steps:  
- Complete the current update of the workforce strategy. 
 

Strategy for 
Sustainable 
Children’s 
Services  

 Long Term 
efficiencies  

 Short Term 
efficiencies  
 

 

Where we were: 
- Demand was high and there were pressures in the system. 
- Concerns were highlighted that the Council needed to think in a 

long-term way in its investment in preventative services whilst 
being aware that there is no indication that complexity and level of 
demand for statutory services will change in the short term. 

- Closer 2 Home phase one had been completed. 
 
Where we are: 
- Demand continues to be high within the system, there are 

currently additional practice and financial demands due to the 
pandemic. It is important to consider than the longer-term 
implications of the pandemic on demand for social services is as 
yet unknown.  

- The movement of Families First into the Social Services 
directorate will support the marrying but not merging of 
preventative and statutory services. However, the long-term 
investment in preventative services to reduce statutory demand 
remains essential. 

- Closer 2 Home phase 2 has been completed and supported the 
step down of three young people from residential placements. This 
supported better outcomes for these young people but also offered 
financial efficiency. 

- The service’s action plan under the strategy for sustainability has 
been updated to incorporate the actions identified in the short-term 
capacity review. 

 
Next steps: 
- Closer 2 Home phase 3 to be implemented and the learning from 

phase 2 to be embedded. 
- Given the changing demands due to the pandemic consideration 

to be given to further revisiting the strategy for sustainability. 
- Continue twin track planning of short and long term efficiencies. 
 

 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 Merthyr Tydfil Children's Services plans to be a high performing service, working in 

co-production with partners and families, providing services within budget that are 
preventative, reduce risk, and increase resilience. 
 

6.2 Merthyr Tydfil’s Children’s Services is a service with a clear learning culture that 
means we will always continue to develop to best meet the needs of those who need 
our support. 

Page 51



 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 Each building block has designated action plans. We will continue to monitor the 

progress of each action plan quarterly. Action plans are linked to our performance 
management framework and the Council’s policy Focus on Performance.  

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 This area of business is located in the following wellbeing objective: 

 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 
 
 
LISA CURTIS-JONES  
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES  
                 CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Children’s Services 
Strategy Scrutiny Report 

March 2020 

10th March 2020 Online 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 52



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 

Date Written 28th September 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section – Sian Lyons-
Nicholas 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 2nd February 2021 

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

Page 54



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 55



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 56



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 58



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that  the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 

and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Committee 
Date  

Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  Cross Cutting 
Strategies and 

Plans 

15th 
September 

2020 

Forward Work 

Programme 

2020/2021 

 

Cllr Bill Smith (Chair) and 

Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The draft Forward Work Programme is developed at 

the beginning of the municipal year by the Members of the Social Services 

Scrutiny Committee, which includes the areas the members wish to focus on 

throughout the year. However, it is a fluid document and it may change due 

to the needs of the Social Services Scrutiny Committee. Therefore, the 

committee is to consider and approve the Forward Work Programme as it 

stands for Social Services (2020/2021). 

Recovery, 

Transformation & 

Improvement Plan 

(Governance) 

Coronavirus 
Pandemic - 
Update on 
Recovery and 
Activity 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services) / 
Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 
Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The committee has requested a report to give an 
update on how Social Services are responding to the demands and 
challenges due to the Coronavirus pandemic. This report should also outline 
the services transition to recovery and lessons learned going forward. 

Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement Plan 

6th 
October 

2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complaints and 
Compliments 
(2018/19)  
 
 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer) / Gaynor Lewis 
(Complaints Manager) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Local Authorities are required to the Social Services 
Complaints Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 and the Representations 
Procedure (Wales) Regulations 2014 to produce an Annual Report about the 
operation of their Social Services Complaints, Representations and 
Compliments Policy and Procedures.  
The complaints reports are completed retrospectively after the complaints 
have been resolved; this can take up to 6-8 months after the financial year. 
Therefore, a mid-year report (2017/18) was presented to Scrutiny in 
September 2019. The committee has now requested an end of year report 
(2018/19) for consideration and challenge. The report should include any 
details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. 
The report is also to identify key areas for development and improvement 
for 2019/20. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Day Services 
 

Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adults Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on 
the performance within 20/21, along with any details of issues/barriers 
experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 within 
Merthyr Tydfil. Specific focus to be confirmed. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

P
age 59



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that  the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 

and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

17th 
November 

2020 

Budget Position 
updates 
 
 
 

Lisa Curtis Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services) 
/ Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny providing an 
update on Social Services budget and areas of likely overspend and the 
measures that have been put in place to help reduce any overspend within 
the department.  This report should also give any details of issues/barriers 
experienced and how these have been overcome. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 

Transition of 
Young People 
Leaving Care 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services) 
/ Taryn Hudd (Head of 
Children’s Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on 
the performance within 20/21, along with any details of issues/barriers 
experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 within 
Merthyr Tydfil. Specific focus to be confirmed. 

Focus on the 
Future. 
SSWBA. 
Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement 
Plan. 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

5th January 
2021 

 
Meeting 
cancelled 

due to 
mass 

testing 

Adult Services 
Strategies 
(2020/21)  
 
 
 

Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 
Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a position 
statement on strategies applicable to Adult Social Services.  The report is 
also to identify key areas for development and improvement for Q4 
(2020/21) and 2021/22. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Children Services 
Strategies 
(2020/21)  
 

Taryn Hudd (Head of 
Children’s Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a 
position statement on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services.  The 
report is also to identify key areas for development and improvement for Q4 
(2020/21) and 2021/22. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

2nd 
February 

2021 

Adult Services 
Strategies 
(2020/21)  
 

Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Adult Services will provide a position 
statement on strategies applicable to Adult Social Services.  The report is 
also to identify key areas for development and improvement for Q4 
(2020/21) and 2021/22. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

P
age 60



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that  the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 

and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Deferred from 5th 
January 2021 
 
 
 

Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Children Services 
Strategies 
(2020/21)  
 
Deferred from 5th 
January 2021 
 

Taryn Hudd (Head of 
Children’s Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Head of Children’s Services will provide a position 
statement on strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services.  The report is 
also to identify key areas for development and improvement for Q4 
(2020/21) and 2021/22. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Review of 
Whistleblowing 
and Corporate 
Safeguarding 
 
Referred by Audit 
Committee 
 

Jon Eyre (Safeguarding 
Manager) / Fran Donnelly 
(Head of Human 
Resources) / Lisa Curtis-
Jones (Chief Officer of 
Social Services) 
 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Referred to Scrutiny by Audit Committee for review 
and challenge. Note and debate the progress made against the Corporate 
Safeguarding Action Plan. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

16th March 
2021 

Adults and Young 
Careers 
 
 
 

Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 
Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - A report is to be presented to Scrutiny with on the 
Carers Strategy and the impact it is having on the Adults and Young Carers.  
Details should also be provided on any issues/barriers experienced and how 
these have been overcome or how you plan to overcome them. The report is 
also to consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 
within Merthyr Tydfil. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Safeguarding 
Board Annual 
Report (and 
current update) 
 

Nicholas Kingham (RCT) / 
Jon Eyre (Safeguarding 
Manager) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Safeguarding is a clear priority for the Council. As a 
Local Authority we have a duty to safeguard children and adults at risk as set 
out by the Social Services and Well-Being Act (SSWBA). Therefore, the 
committee has requested a summary of the 2019/20 Safeguarding Board 
Annual Regional Plan, which is to also identify the key areas of improvement 
going forward both regionally and in Merthyr Tydfil. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

P
age 61



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that  the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 

and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

Deferred from 2nd 
February 2020 
 

The cover report should include any trend/current data specific Merthyr 
Tydfil and details of issues/barriers experienced and how these have been 
overcome. The report is also to identify key areas for development and 
improvement for 2020/21. 

Social Services 
Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement 
Plan Update 
 
 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services) 
/ Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 
Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: The social care provision has been under strain 
throughout the pandemic and there are likely to be additional pressures 
from new caseloads being reported following a release from lockdown and 
over the winter months placing further challenges on the resilience of the 
services.  Therefore, the members have requested the Chief Officer of Social 
Services to provide a position statement on the Social Services Recovery, 
Transformation, and Improvement Plan along with any details of 
issues/barriers experienced and how these have been overcome. The report 
is also to identify the key areas for development and improvement for 
2021/22. 

Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement Plan 
 
Focus on the 
Future 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

7th April 
2021 

Community 
Occupational 
Therapy (COT) 
and Disabled 
Facilities Grant 
(DFG) 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services / 
RCT 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on 
the performance within 20/21, along with any details of issues/barriers 
experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 within 
Merthyr Tydfil. Specific focus to be confirmed. 

Focus on the 
Future 
 
SSWBA 

Edge of Care 
(Strategy Update) 
 
 

Taryn Hudd (Head of 
Children’s Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Summary report providing a position statement on 
the performance within 20/21, along with any details of issues/barriers 
experienced and how these have been overcome. The report is also to 
consider key areas for development and improvement for 2020/21 within 
Merthyr Tydfil. 

Focus on the 
Future  
 
SSWBA 

Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement 
Plan - Adult 
Advocacy 
 

Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / 
Councillor Chris Davies 
(Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 defines advocacy services as: “services which provide assistance (by 
way of representation or otherwise) to persons for purposes relating to their 
care and support”. The act refers to services being provided by independent 
professional advocates in relation to adults’ and children’s care and support. 
Adult Advocacy has been identified as an area for improvement in the Social 

Recovery, 
Transformation & 
Improvement Plan 
 
Focus on the 
Future 

P
age 62



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/2021 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the Audit Wales (AW) scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that  the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 

and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Additional Topics for Consideration  

2020/21 Self-Evaluation 
(3 questions) 
Dates of completion of 
2020/21 SER questions 
are yet to be confirmed. 
 

Lisa Curtis-Jones (Chief 
Officer of Social Services) / 
Angela Edevane (Head of 
Adult Services) / Taryn 
Hudd (Head of Children’s 
Services) / Councillor Chris 
Davies (Portfolio Member) 

Scrutiny and Challenge:  Made up of 3 key questions the re-focused self-
evaluation process supports Chief Officers and service teams to reflect on 
what they achieved and identify and set priorities for improvement.  The 
Committee will receive the service’s response to the first of the key 
questions which is linked to Outcomes.  They will be required to scrutinise 
the proforma outlining the findings of the process (along with relevant 
supporting evidence); and review the validity of the judgment ascribed.   

Focus on the Future 

 
 
 

   

 

Deferred from 2nd 
February 2021 
 
 

Services Recovery, Transformation, and Improvement Plan, therefore, the 
members request an update report to be presented on the development of 
advocacy services for adults. The report should also provide any details of 
issues / barriers experienced and how these have been overcome and 
priorities going forward, and any analysis of the engagement undertaken 
and a draft of the co-produced strategy (if possible). 

 
SSWBA 

Forward Work 
Programme 

Chair and Committee 
Members 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To review the items due to be presented at the 
next Committee meeting, ensuring a clear brief of the Committee’s 
expectations are available to report authors who will be drafting the report. 

 

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Wales Audit Office: Review of Whistleblowing and Corporate Safeguarding
	4 Adult Advocacy Strategy
	Appendix

	5 Children’s Services Strategy
	6 Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix


